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SENATOR DEBORAH ORTIZ:  I am very excited today to be sponsoring the informational hearing this afternoon on the root causes of breast cancer.  Too many women are suffering from this disease.  I worry not only about my own health, but about all of our mothers, sisters, daughters, and friends who may find themselves struck by the disease.  Right now, 207,000 women in the State of California are living with breast cancer, and it is estimated that 21,000 more cases will be diagnosed this year alone.  One in eight women will be struck by breast cancer in their lifetime, and this rate, unfortunately, is increasing.  Breast cancer is the leading cause of death for California women, aged 40 to 55.


One thing we do know is that many women are diagnosed with breast cancer despite the lack of any known hereditary risk factor.  Some estimates range somewhere between 5 and 10 percent of women with breast cancer have a familial or a genetic link, and I think it’s important to also recognize that that means 90 to 95 percent of the women diagnosed with breast cancer have no genetic or familial link.


The purpose of the hearing today is to review the science that has begun to be put together about the environmental factors of breast cancer.  This is the first time that we have seen studies specifically related to breast cancer in a way that provides the foundation of what I hope will be further research and further data to guide us in understanding the environmental factors in breast cancer.  Our goal, of course, is to promote the scientific research in order to identify new causal factors as well as to identify strategies to eliminate those factors.


For those Members who will be joining us and participating in the hearing, there is a report in the packet that the witnesses will address:  “The State of the Evidence:  What is the Connection Between Chemicals and Breast Cancer?”  This newly released report from The Breast Cancer Fund and the Breast Cancer Action is a summary of the various scientific research that indicates our research question must shift from whether or not there are environmental causes to breast cancer to what can be done about those factors and what are the specific causes of breast cancer from an environmental perspective?


As Members join us, we’ll be inviting them to make comments.  I do want to note one change in our agenda.  Dr. Lee, who was scheduled to speak under Section III of the agenda, is ill today.  However, he has sent a representative – Nancy Evans – to speak today, and we’re fortunate to have her.


With that, I’d like to move into the first part of our hearing today, which is “Breast Cancer:  The Impact on Women’s Live.”  I understand that the speakers have been briefed about trying to stay within our time constraints.  I want to welcome you all, and I understand that Ms. Andrea Martin is our first speaker.

Welcome.


MS. JEANNE RIZZO:  Madam Chair and Members, my name is Jeanne Rizzo.  I’m the executive director of The Breast Cancer Fund, a national nonprofit based in California, whose mission is to end the breast cancer epidemic by initiating and supporting action to prevent breast cancer based on the evidence of environmental links to the disease.


On behalf of the alliance of breast cancer advocacy organizations here today, may I introduce the first presenter of panel one – “The Impact on Women’s Lives” – the founder and executive director of The Breast Cancer Fund for ten years, a woman who survived breast cancer not once but twice and is currently undergoing treatment for an aggressive malignant brain tumor, Ms. Andrea Martin.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for joining us.


MS. ANDREA MARTIN:  It’s a real pleasure to be here.  And thank you, Senator Ortiz, for holding this hearing, and all of your fellow Members for being interested in this topic.  I have to tell you, I almost started crying when I heard what you just said.  It was music to my ears to hear you say that we have to shift from the question of “whether” to “What do we do about it?”  It’s been my life’s work for ten years, and it’s just very heartening to hear you say that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Well, thank you.  You can take credit for being one of many of the women and legions of activists out there that are getting us to this point.  So, thank you.


MS. MARTIN:  My journey with breast cancer actually started seventeen years ago when I was thirty-nine years old.  On a routine mammogram, a spot was noticed, and I was recommended to have it excised – taken out – and it turned out to be a calcium deposit, and it was nonmalignant.  But because I was so young and it is a suspicion for maybe ultimate breast cancer, I was recommended to get a mammogram thereafter every six months.


Now, this was back in, what I think is fair to call, the Dark Ages of breast cancer, where the knowledge and consciousness and awareness that we have now did not exist.  I didn’t even question whether to have more mammograms, and we didn’t know at the time that mammograms on younger women are not that effective so that it frequently misses breast cancer in younger women.  So, dutifully, because I’m the good patient, I did proceed to have a mammogram every six months.  It was clean and I was told to not worry about it.  That’s just what I wanted to hear, and I’d walk away thinking that nothing was wrong.


In the area where the calcium deposit was, very close by was a soft lump that didn’t go away.  I had brought that to my doctor’s attention too.  It hadn’t been biopsied.  I was told, which was the belief at the time, that it was soft and movable and, therefore, couldn’t be breast cancer and that it didn’t show up on the mammogram.  Even over the next several years, even as it started hurting, I was told not to worry because breast cancer doesn’t hurt.  


My life went on.  I had been recently divorced and fallen in love and recently married, and my second husband Richard’s sister had been diagnosed with breast cancer at the age of forty-seven, and coming up on her forty-ninth birthday, she passed away from the disease, which was really my first exposure to breast cancer.  I had none of it in my family.


As we were standing at the funeral for Susan, my right breast was throbbing from this pain.  I happened to have my annual checkup with my OB-GYN the next week, and I didn’t really care if it was soft and movable, or if it was benign or whatever, clearly this lump was taking over my breast and I wanted it out.  Again, I knew nothing about breast cancer.


When I walked into the doctor’s office and I showed him the lump, it had actually grown to where you could see the break in the plane of the surface of my breast.  I had noticed that and clearly knew that that was not a great thing.  Again, I thought, well, this is not cancer; it’s just this cyst that’s growing and maybe filling with liquid.  He looked at it and just went pale and ended the exam right then and there and sent me across the street, where it happened that the surgeon who had done my calcium deposit three years earlier was, and that surgeon had me on the table the next day.  The day after that I was sitting across from him from his desk, my husband and I, and the doctor looked at us and said that it was an advanced breast cancer; that it was larger than a golf ball; that it had already gone to my nodes; that I had two tumors under my arm; and that I’d better go home and get my affairs in order.  This was in January after a clean mammogram the previous September and three years of twice-a-year clean mammograms.


Obviously, my whole life changed in the flickering of a second.  As the floor fell out from under me, I heard that I needed to have really aggressive therapy.  They recommended that I start immediately on chemo and not even have a mastectomy right away.  That was unusual, it turns out.  I didn’t know that at the time, but it’s been practiced for years in Europe but not here in the United States.  The idea was, since it was so aggressive and growing so quickly, that I needed to hit it systemically rather than surgically.  Also, we could see if the chemo worked while it was still in my breast.  Because it was so big, if it did work it would start getting smaller.


So, I agreed with that analysis.  I did get many, many opinions, including on the East Coast from my sister-in-law’s doctors, and went into aggressive chemotherapy.  My first treatment was probably the worst thing physically that’s ever happened to me.  I had no forewarning of how sick I would be.  It was pretty horrific.  But I got myself into a support group very quickly between the first and the second treatment, and I learned a whole bag of tricks.  I really got better in terms of the next several treatments.  Fortunately, it did start receding in size, and then after the third treatment I had surgery, and then I had three more of that original cocktail.  Then I had six weeks of radiation and eight more rounds of another cocktail, which I begged, and I went to second and third and fourth and fifth opinions, to try to get out of, but they were very concerned with a young woman having such an aggressive tumor.  I guess statistically they had not seen too much success from it.


This was the whole first year of my new marriage, and I also had a six-year-old daughter.  I was absolutely afraid for my life.  I didn’t know anything about cancer.  My whole family has bad hearts, but they don’t die from cancer.  I found out that it was rampant and so many young women have breast cancer.  In my particular support group, we were all fifty or younger, many of us with young children.  Half of my support group died in the first two years, which was statistically an anomaly but it was absolutely impactful on me.


I somehow made it through that first year of treatment, and I just was dizzy from the situation.  Unfortunately, about a year and a half later, I picked up a small lump in my remaining breast, my left breast.  I watched it for a couple of weeks.  It didn’t go away.  I went to the surgeon.  He said, “With your record, you have to have it biopsied.”


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Ms. Martin?


MS. MARTIN:  Am I going too slow?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No.  Actually, I want to let you know that we’re good on time, so I’m going to give you a bit more time because we started early.  I think it’s important that this first story have a really clear understanding of your experience because it sets the tone.  I want to assure you that we can give you another five minutes because we are well ahead of time rather than simply another minute.


MS. MARTIN:  Unfortunately, even though this was, what, fourteen years ago – it all started in ’89 in terms of the actual finding of cancer – this is very typical of the current experience.  In any event, it raises your chance of getting a second breast cancer in the remaining breast once you’ve had breast cancer in one breast.  The surgeon actually had me on the table the day I walked in, and it was cancer.  But this time it was tiny and nonaggressive, and I was offered a lumpectomy without radiation or any kind of chemotherapy because it was so small.  I opted for another mastectomy.  It made me symmetrical again.  I went on tamoxifen for five years, which is a very potent oral chemotherapy that many of us take if you have an estrogen-positive breast cancer.


At that point, I was really ticked.  Before that I was scared to death for my life.  I couldn’t fathom what I was going to do about my daughter.  But the second time, by then I had seen how much breast cancer there was, and there were stirrings, fortunately, here in San Francisco, because we are such a wonderful center of activism for so many things, and women were getting fed up.  What I think happened is this disease hit enough of us in a young age that we couldn’t be silent anymore.  We knew it was a silent epidemic.  It was already an epidemic in the early ’90s, but so far no one was making noise and very little money was being put to research.


My anger played out in starting The Breast Cancer Fund.  I was in the world of politics.  I was a political fundraiser for Senator Feinstein, and I was surrounded by some very determined and powerful women who agreed with me that there was not enough being done on a local, state, and national basis on this disease.  We started The Breast Cancer Fund to bring this issue into its rightful place as a healthcare crisis.  Over the last ten years, we’ve done a remarkable amount of work to get us to a situation like we can have this hearing today.


One of our major focuses has been the cause of breast cancer and preventing breast cancer.  Not only is it important to treat it and detect it, but we have to get to the root of it.  My own personal situation is I don’t have the genetics of the disease.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  BRCA1 or BRCA2.


MS. MARTIN:  No.  You have to think of the risk factors more as vulnerability factors; they don’t necessarily give you breast cancer, but, for instance, having your period earlier or menopause later or less children later in life or no children.  Those kinds of risk factors are really a misnomer.  They’re more like vulnerability factors, and I had one of all of them, having had my child when I was 36.  That only raises your risk a certain percentage.  In a pristine world, it would probably not have given me breast cancer.  But I have the dubious distinction of having spent my entire development and formative years in two of the three most polluted states in this country:  Tennessee and Louisiana.  Texas is the third and, fortunately, I haven’t spent too much time there.


I can’t point to an oil spill or a particular contamination, but I grew up swimming in the Mississippi, which has been polluted for so many years.  We call it the “Cancer Corridor of the Mississippi.”  I ate the crawdads from the bottom of the delta and a few other delightful things.  Of course, I was one of those ’50s kids that danced in DDT, as they sprayed my neighborhood.  We were all living at that time exposed to the fallout from nuclear radiation tests.  You didn’t have to live in Nevada.  We got to visit the shoe store and get up on the x-ray machine without any protection for our chest.


What we have come to find out is our exposures as young women really are what set us up ultimately to develop breast cancer.  I think I was really overexposed in many, many ways.  It’s the only explanation I really have of getting this.  No one in my family ever has or still hasn’t gotten it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Ms. Martin, let me take a moment, because I want to make sure that I introduce Members, but I want you to think about your last wrap-up because I think it’s really important what you’re giving us.  I could editorialize and add to it, but I’m going to hold off because Members have joined us and I want to take a moment to welcome Assemblymember Dion Aroner, Senator John Vasconcellos, Senator Sheila Kuehl, and Senator Liz Figueroa – all champions, as you know.  I want to offer them a moment to make some comments after Ms. Martin concludes, and then we can move on to the next speakers.  But I want to thank them for joining us.


MS. MARTIN:  I’ll close by saying I have, obviously, a constitution or cells or DNA, or whatever, that doesn’t stand up well to assault, because eight months or so ago I was diagnosed with a glioblastoma multiforme brain tumor which, I’m told by our colleagues over at the National Brain Tumor Foundation, which is based in Oakland, is much like breast cancer was ten years ago:  It’s on the increase and very little research has been done.  There’s a lot of speculation about prognosis and things like that.  It’s most prevalent in men forty to sixty.  I’ve seen a stack of studies that point to the involvement of toxic chemicals and pollutants and this particular GBN, as they call it, and cell phones.  Even though the official line is that it’s not connected, and mainstream medicine is absolutely adamant that it isn’t, there’s excellent research showing that cell phone use is connected and that, essentially, what our researchers have done is given in to the industry and decided not to research it anymore.


So, it’s not just breast cancer that we have to be careful about.  There’s all sorts of illnesses, but cancers in particular.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your testimony, and I’m sorry to discover that you’re going to have another challenge.


MS. MARTIN:  I’m fourteen years down the road from the other one, so I’m banking on my continued success.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I’d like to comment, but I want to allow my colleagues here a moment, unless they want to continue with the panel.  Let me take a moment to introduce Senator Wesley Chesbro who’s joined us and ask the Members if they’d like to weigh in now or wait until the rest of the panel speaks.


Okay.  I appreciate your testimony, and I’m sure that there’ll be questions or comments.


MS. MARTIN:  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


Our next speaker is Dr. Carmen Ortiz – no relation – but she’s brilliant.  I wish she was related to me.  


Welcome.


DR. CARMEN ORTIZ:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  Thank you for the opportunity to be here.


My name is Carmen Ortiz.  I’m a psychologist and a consultant who specializes in Spanish-language support group development and community outreach planning.


Breast cancer entered my life in 1988.  Four months earlier, I completed five years of graduate school, so I felt on top of the world and looked forward to a bright and carefree future, but all my dreams came to a screeching stop one evening when I casually slipped my hand under my T-shirt and felt a lump the size of a half dollar.  At first I was dumbfounded.  I had a mammogram ten months before and it was normal.  A clinical breast exam five months earlier also failed to detect the lump.


Two days after discovering the lump, it was examined and aspirated.  I was sent for another mammogram.  Another week passed before the lump was removed and biopsied.  When my doctor walked into the recovery room, I knew by the look on his face that the news was not good.  “It’s malignant,” he said softly.  Turning from him I burst into tears.  The following week, on a sunny October morning, I looked at my breast in the mirror for the last time.  Later that evening, I’d wake up in a cold and sterile recovery room with only one breast.  I was thirty-nine years old.


Although it’s going on fourteen years since my diagnosis, I still remember the array of feelings:  first, shock and confusion, followed by anger; then sadness and depression.  I still remember the effects of chemotherapy:  the nausea, the dry heaves, the smell of vomit, and the bitter taste of bile on my lips.


Despite the psychological and physical trauma I experienced, I had many advantages along the way, including a supportive family and great friends.  I had health insurance and the financial resources to get me through my cancer experience.  I also had the language skills necessary to collect all the information I needed to make decisions about my health and treatment plan.


Imagine if I had been poor, uninsured, and uninformed?  Suppose I spoke only Spanish and the only information available fourteen years ago was in English?  I think my experience would have been much more confusing and traumatic.  Those of us who have confronted breast cancer know that the medical system can be difficult enough to maneuver even when one speaks fluid English.  For someone who speaks only Spanish, a diagnosis of breast cancer can be a nightmare.


Breast cancer is the most commonly diagnosed cancer among Latinas and the leading cause of cancer deaths.  While early detection is important in decreasing the number of advanced cancers, it is well-documented that Latinas are less likely to participate in breast health screenings.  Studies have found that Latinas have less knowledge about the early warning signs of cancer, have more misconceptions about cancer causes, are more likely to believe that cancer is a matter of chance, and are more likely to consider cancer a death sentence.  


Studies have also found that Latinas with a fatalistic view – those with fearful attitudes toward cancer and those who speak little or no English – are least likely to participate in breast health screenings.  Poverty, lack of transportation, lack of childcare, immigration status, and embarrassment act as further barriers to health care.


The lack of health insurance presents itself as a significant barrier to health care for a disproportionate number of Latinos.  According to Health Care for All, 40 percent of California Latinos lacked health insurance in 1999, compared to the state average of 22.3 percent.  Because over 50 percent of the Latino population is made up of women and children, they are especially affected by the lack of health insurance.  The National Women’s Health Information Center reports that there are more uninsured Latinas than any other ethnic group.  This is true even though many are employed or live with someone who is.  


Uninsured Latinos are less likely to have a regular physician; therefore, are less likely to have regular care.  Uninsured Latinas diagnosed with breast cancer are two times more likely to be diagnosed at a later stage, and uninsured Latino men diagnosed with prostate cancer are four times more likely to be diagnosed at a later stage.


Those who pick our fruits and vegetables are especially affected by the lack of health insurance.  The average farm worker earns between six to eight thousand dollars a year.  The majority have no health benefits, no paid vacations, no sick leave, and no pension plans.  Over one billion pounds of pesticide active ingredients are used in the United States.  Eighty percent are used in agriculture.  The Environmental Protection Agency reports that approximately 300,000 farm workers – women, men, and children – are poisoned each year by pesticides.  They experience headaches, fatigue, nausea, and chest pains.  Pesticides have also been linked to higher than normal rates of certain cancers among farm workers.  In the San Joaquin Valley, cancer rates are 1,200 times that of the national average.


In 1998, the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention reported an overall reduction in cancer incidents and mortality between 1990 and 1995 for all cancers combined.  Sadly, the news was not as encouraging for Latinos and other communities of color who continue to be diagnosed at more advanced stages, despite a lower incidence rate for some cancers.


By the year 2020, Latinos are projected to make up the majority population in California; yet, providers of health care and social support services are ill-equipped to meet the needs of this growing population.  Limited access, culturally ineffective delivery models, and language differences can have a significant impact on the physical and emotional well-beings of Latinos, resulting in substantial delays in obtaining cancer treatments that can affect a patient’s prognosis and survival.  As the Latino population continues to grow, the number of uninsured is also expected to increase, resulting in a greater number of advanced cancers.  This increase in the number of Latinas living with the consequences of advanced breast cancer can have a lasting and profound impact on this state’s health system.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Dr. Ortiz, thank you so much for your testimony.  I just whispered to my staff I wasn’t sure if your testimony is in our packets, but if there’s a way you could share that with the committee – okay, it is in there.  


Twelve hundred times the rate?  That’s incredible.


DR. ORTIZ:  And, it’s believed to be caused by pesticides in the water.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I appreciate that.  The information we receive today is about the beginning of how we look for further data and research to carve public policy.  That’s very valuable and I do appreciate that.


Let me clarify – were you also thirty-nine years old when you were diagnosed?


DR. ORTIZ:  I was thirty-nine years old.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That is very young.


DR. ORTIZ:  Not something one expects at that age.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  No.  Thank you for your testimony.


Members, I’ve reserved some time after the panel for questions, but if there are Members that have to leave, please let me know if you want to weigh in prior to the end of the panel.


Our next speaker, I understand, is Ms. Karen Pierce.  


Welcome.


Let me clarify:  Five minutes for testimony and then five minutes for questions, so if you want to speak for ten, hopefully we’ll have time after everyone else speaks and we can raise questions within the time allotted.


MS. KAREN PIERCE:  Thank you very much, Senator Ortiz, and committee members and others who are here this afternoon to hear from us.  I hope I’m going to make up a little time for you, but I may get longwinded. 


I’m Karen Pierce, and I’m president of the Bayview Hunters Point Community Advocates, which is a nonprofit environmental justice program.


I want to stop and say something:  I’m one of the few women you will hear from this afternoon who does not have breast cancer.  Then I want people to reflect back on what the Chair said in her opening remarks:  One in eight women over our lifetimes will get breast cancer.  If we look at the statistics, in another thirty years, it will be one out of one, so something really needs to be done.  When we look around this room, there are probably more people here living with breast cancer than there are people here who don’t have breast cancer.


You’ve all received a copy of the paper, “State of the Evidence,” and you’ll be hearing more about that specifically from the next two panels.  I’m going to speak about one specific community and what’s happening in our community as an example of why something needs to be done now.  I live and work in Bayview Hunters Point, and I’m going to talk about that community.  


I’d like to quote one thing from the paper, though, which is a very easy definition of the precautionary principle.  The precautionary principle says that evidence of harm, rather than proof of harm, should be the trigger for action.


In response to neighborhood concerns, in 1997 the San Francisco Department of Public Health looked at health and health outcomes in the African American community, specifically in Bayview Hunters Point.  In looking at breast cancer, they did find one blip in the statistics which showed that for a seven-year period, there was an incidence of two times higher the expected rate of breast cancer for residents in Bayview Hunters Point.


Now, the explanation given by the experts for that was that there had been very aggressive programs to encourage women to get mammograms, and so the rate of breast cancer was going up because it was being discovered at earlier stages.  This is a commonly held belief and it was no different in our neighborhood.


However, this statistic was for women under the age of forty.  Now, women under forty are not encouraged to take mammograms, so I think we need to question whether or not the reason why the rate was going up in our neighborhood had anything at all to do with mammograms.


I also want to quote one other statistic from that report, which is looking at mortality rates for African American women in San Francisco between 1973 and 1993, compared to white women with similar local stage breast cancer at diagnosis.  African American women had a 77 percent higher rate of death due to breast cancer.  Bayview Hunters Point is the home to the majority of African Americans in San Francisco.  Bayview Hunters Point is also the home to 37 percent of the toxic producing activities in the city and county of San Francisco.  We’re also the home to one of the two power plants in the city; the other power plant being directly across from a small creek.  It’s technically in another neighborhood, but it’s sitting right there in our neighborhood.  San Francisco has two identified Superfund sites.  Bayview Hunters Point is home to both of those Superfund sites.


I can go on and on about the toxic producing activities that go on in our neighborhood, but I think you get the main picture.  It’s been the dumping ground.  This is not unusual for African American communities.  It is not unusual for poor communities of color.  It is not only what you can expect in the State of California, it’s what you can expect in the world.  If you look at where power plants are sited around the world, you find that they’re right next door to communities of color, usually Latino or African American communities.


Given these statistics, it’s hard to say that there’s a lifestyle activity going on that is causing this high mortality rate.  We can’t sit back and just look at what the science says.  We may never know which chemicals are the exact cause of breast cancer.  What we do know, looking at the statistics in Bayview Hunter’s Point, is there has to be some form of environmental impact that is causing the death rate.


We just, in the neighborhood, feel that it’s going to be too long to wait for science to catch up.  The neighborhood is killing us right now.  We know it’s killing us.  The breast cancer rates are not the only elevated rates.  What we’re doing in the neighborhood, in collaboration with the San Francisco Department of Public Health, is looking for ways to actually clean up.  We’re looking for opportunities to have the city set policies that will ensure that no further pollutants are brought into the neighborhood, and then we’re looking for ways, although it’s very difficult, to move toward actually cleaning those up.  


It doesn’t matter to us what caused breast cancer.  Treating it is not prevention.  The only way to save lives is to prevent it, and the only way we can see, given the situation in Bayview Hunters Point, is to clean out the things that we’re all convinced are killing us and to clean out the things that I think most people in the United States feel are killing us.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your testimony.  Let me give my colleagues an opportunity to ask questions or comment on testimony.


Thank you, all.  


Let me weigh in on my trying to sort through a lot of this.  I was struck by Ms. Martin’s look-back on where many women lived fifty years ago and sixty years ago.  My mother was diagnosed with thyroid cancer when I was in high school and was then treated with radiation and, years later, was then diagnosed with ovarian cancer when she was fifty-eight.  She fought that battle for almost three years.  None of her sisters had breast or ovarian cancer, but her family actually moved from Colorado and New Mexico, and there was a lot of debate.  Thyroid cancer is one of the few things that they clearly have said if you were in fallout from nuclear testing, it’s one of the most compelling causes of thyroid cancer.  Unfortunately, today we know that is relatively treatable early on.  


But there’s a lot of evidence to be gathered, particularly when it comes to secondary cancers, and certainly for women who, hopefully, understand that with breast cancer, that they ought to be very clear about being vigilant and screened for ovarian as well.  If you happen to fall in the five or ten percent, or you don’t know whether you do, that there’s also a slightly higher elevated risk for ovarian cancer.


I understand the struggle you’ve all had.  Many of us have gone through variations of fibroid adenoma biopsies, etc., and excisions.  It gives us a lot of food for thought to move forward as we monitor our health.  Statistics suggest that more than one of my colleagues here or in the other house will be diagnosed with breast cancer in our time and career.  


You’ve got a good group of people that care about this, so thank you for your stories and your testimony and know that we’re going to take it all very seriously and try to move forward on change.  


Let me welcome the second panel forward.  The second panel is “The Science:  The State of the Evidence.”  Once again, let me let the participants know and the public know that Dr. Philip Randolph Lee is ill and is not here with us today, but Ms. Nancy Evans, who is the editor of the report, “The State of the Evidence,” is here       as a very competent and very well-qualified presenter on this issue; as well as               Dr. Richard J. Jackson.


Welcome.


MS. NANCY EVANS:  Madam Chair, members of the committee, colleagues, and friends.  My name is Nancy Evans.  I am the health science consultant to The Breast Cancer Fund, and I’m here today speaking on behalf of Dr. Philip Lee, who sends his sincere regrets that he could not attend.


“The State of the Evidence” report provides a summary of the evidence related to proven, probable, and possible environmental causes of breast cancer.  The report notes that there are some 85,000 synthetic chemicals in use today, and fewer than 10 percent of them have been tested for human health effects.  This gives some idea of the potential for risk and the complexity of the task of linking synthetic chemicals to breast cancer.  


Ionizing radiation is the only proven environmental cause of human breast cancer.  We also know of information about other things that increase a woman’s risk of breast cancer, but all of these things combined only explain, at most, fifty percent of all breast cancer.  The report, “The State of the Evidence,” is about the other fifty percent.


The strongest evidence linking chemicals and breast cancer, based on the fact that lifetime exposure to natural estrogen increases the risk of breast cancer, concerns natural and synthetic estrogens, including drugs like diethylstilbestrol, or DES; plastic additives such as bisphenol-A; polyvinyl chloride, otherwise known as PVC plastic; dieldrin and other pesticides.


Other synthetic substances strongly linked to breast cancer through experimental studies – that is, laboratory studies – are organic solvents; polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons, or PAHs, which are contained in diesel exhaust and tobacco smoke; and something called 1,3 butadiene, which is also linked to internal combustion engines.


There are a number of other chemicals where the links to breast cancer are probable but less certain, including dioxin; DDT, which was banned years ago in the United States; and polychlorinated biphenyls, or PCBs.  There are links that can be made to other chemicals as well.


Clearly, the evidence linking toxic chemicals and breast cancer is very real and cannot be ignored.  Whether it comes from laboratory research that implicates 43 chemicals in breast cancer formation, or studies that show that all women carry persistent pollutants in their bodies, the results from scientific studies are very alarming.  The report also makes the case for action, based on the evidence we have now.


While we pursue the research that will lead to more definitive answers, the existing evidence linking chemicals to breast cancer demands that we act now as a society to begin removing many of these substances from our environment.  Considerable resources are spent encouraging women to make changes in their personal lives in an effort to reduce their risk of breast cancer.  But breast cancer is not just a woman’s personal tragedy; it is a public health crisis that demands action by society as a whole.


The basis for action is the long-established principle in medicine:  First, do no harm.  This is often referred to in public health and health policy as the “precautionary principle.”  Evidence of harm should be the trigger for action.  The burden of proof should be on the manufacturers of these chemicals; not the millions of women who are exposed to thousands of synthetic chemicals in use today.  It is up to public officials to be guided by these principles and serve the public interest in human health and in environmental protection; not the special interests of manufacturers and distributors of these chemicals.


The report calls for a five-point plan of action:

· First, phase out toxic chemicals.  

· Second, enact sunshine laws and enforce existing environmental protection laws.  

· Third, practice healthy purchasing.  

· Fourth, offer corporate incentives to corporations who eliminate or reduce the use of toxic chemicals.  

· And fifth, monitor breast milk.  


Dr. Lee goes on to say, “I will support the findings and recommendations in this report and would strongly urge that California lead the way.”


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me let Members know that those five recommendations start on page 20 to page 22.


I appreciate your testimony and staying within time limits.  Thank you.


Welcome, Dr. Richard Jackson.


DR. RICHARD JACKSON:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz.


I’m Richard Jackson.  I’m the director of the National Center for Environmental Health at the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention in Atlanta, Georgia – part of the US Department of Health and Human Services.  It’s a pleasure to be here and be before your committee today.


I have an eleven-page testimony here which I’m going to ask to submit to the record, with your permission, and give you a condensed version of it, if I may.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much.  The sergeant will go ahead and distribute that to our Members.


DR. JACKSON:  Thank you.


I think the takeaway points I would like to offer are:


One, you cannot have healthy people in an unhealthy environment.  The environment does affect human health, and chemicals in our environment affect human health.


Two, measuring actual body burdens.  What is actually in people is very useful information in making good decisions about health and the environment.


Three, there is important research coming out that will link what is going on with human disease and the population and what is going on with the environment.  These are two separate tracks that have been going on for many years, our environmental monitoring and our health monitoring.  The amount that we’ve actually had them overlap has been very, very little up until very recently.  Many new tools are coming on line to make that better.


I’ve added this fourth point, but I want to make it very clear as a pediatrician, which is breast milk is the perfect food.  It could be more perfect if it were free of a fair number of these chemicals.  At this point, at least several years ago, half the human milk that was available would not pass basic distribution standards in the United States if it were commercial animal milk.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me make sure that we all fully appreciate what you’re saying.


DR. JACKSON:  I’m saying that the body burdens of these chemicals, the fat-soluble chemicals that move through, if that milk were available for sale in a marketplace, it would not pass FDA and other kinds of guidelines – about half the milk – because of the amount that we have in our bodies because we are at the top of the food chain.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s incredible.


SENATOR WESLEY CHESBRO:  Can I ask a question?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Please.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  Is that because humans are exposed to more chemicals than cows are?  


DR. JACKSON:  Cattle, basically, are herbivores.  Most of us are carnivores.  We’re at the top of the food chain.  We’ve had twenty to twenty-five years to accumulate chemicals in our bodies, a woman has, before she starts nursing.  We just have much more exposure than cattle does.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think Senator Chesbro’s question is important.  It was covered earlier today in the press conference.  The higher level you go up, by the time we consume the levels of exposure that have been inflicted upon what we put in our mouth – whether it’s meat or not – I think that there are many more triggers and levels of exposure that result in the concentration of food we may eat.  I think that’s the difference between a cow eating grass or grazing in a controlled environment or not so controlled environment.  It’s those processes and levels of exposure and changes in the food chain that result in us consuming at higher concentrations.


DR. JACKSON:  In fact, the marker for chemicals that moved up the food chain that turned out to be toxic was the thinning of eggshells from DDT and moved up to the eagles and the ospreys and the seabirds.  As a friend of mine who’s done a lot of research in this area says, the absolute top of the food chain is the human infant.  That is the last stop for many of these chemicals as they move up the food chain.


One thing that CDC has been very active in has been something we call biomonitoring, and I have about a hundred copies of this report that we submitted – they’re in the back of the room that I put on the table – that is a report of chemicals that are actually being found in the American people.


Generally, when we figure out what people are exposed to, mathematical models are generated.  When we look at what’s in the air and then how much do people breathe and what’s in their food and how much do they eat, we calculate from this what, theoretically, you have in your body.  Well, that’s important, but, in fact, up until very recently, we have not had laboratory tools that can actually take a thimbleful of blood or a thimbleful of urine and actually measure what’s in human beings.  


CDC came out with this report.  We reported on 27 chemicals, and by the end of this year we will report on a total of 75 chemicals profiled for the American people.  These chemicals, many of them are very important.  For example, we are reporting on metals such as lead.  As you know, lead poisoning still remains an important problem even in a state like California.  Mercury – a big issue about mercury moving up the food chain and exposure from seafood and other food sources.  We report on uranium and a number of other metals.  


The second chemical group we report on is cotinine.  California has been a major leader in the area of this chemical.  You don’t realize you are because you think of it as tobacco.  But tobacco goes to nicotine which, when it goes through a human being, comes out as cotinine.  The bad news is that in 1990, about 80 percent of us nonsmokers had cotinine levels in our blood.  It was from environmental tobacco smoke.  Just in the last ten years, because of environmental regulation and control of indoor smoking, we have seen a 75 to 80 percent decrease in tobacco products in nonsmokers’ blood – just in ten years.  So, the regulations and control measures that you put in place to remove smoking from public places have had a measured, proven, profound effect on our population.


Another chemical we measured was something called phthalates.  Again, this sounds like something very remote, but these are the softening chemicals that are used in plastics; for example, blood bags or dialysis solutions or even chew toys that children use and others.  It’s used to soften plastics.  Phthalates are also used in various kinds of lotions, cosmetics, and the rest.  When CDC went and profiled phthalate levels in the U.S. population, we expected the number one and number two chemical would be the number one and two most produced chemicals in the United States of phthalates.  We had a big surprise.  In fact, a chemical that we weren’t so worried about – about number four in that group – was very high in women of reproductive age.  It turned out on further look that these chemicals were used in rather high concentrations in cosmetics, lotions, and other personal use products.  These chemicals, a number of them, are weak carcinogens and have hormonal estrogenic or anti-endrogenic (anti-male hormone) effects.  


Again, knowing what is in people and actually profiling what’s in people is a very powerful tool.  This is useful also because it will tell us where there is not a problem.  It is just as important to be able to tell the public you don’t have a problem here as it is to say you have a problem over here.


In epidemiology, we’ve had a lot of trouble with going and doing surveys.  If, for example, we wanted to ask someone with breast cancer – What was your exposure fifteen, twenty, thirty years ago? – that kind of information is very difficult to obtain.  Knowing what people actually have, and so you’ve got a series of numbers, is much more robust when one is trying to do a study to figure out what are risk factors.  You are much more likely to discover risks when you have good measurements of people’s exposure rather than when you have general measures of yes/no and based on people’s memories.


Again, this biomonitoring tool, which sounds rather abstruse and laborious, in the long run will have major benefits in actually figuring out what are the risks, hazards, or nonhazards in our population.


I’ve deviated a bit from my written testimony.  I should say that CDC has already, in the last week, put out a grant of $80 million to California which California is to bid for.  The first 20 percent has already been delivered.  The remainder will be delivered.  The main focus is for terrorism, but part of the response for terrorism is the ability to look at chemical exposures.  A strong laboratory would be an important part of California’s response to this.  I’m not, for that matter, lobbying to tell how California should do this, but it is the expectation of the federal government you would use this money to prepare for terrorism but also to be able to do and deal with more routine threats.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I want to comment on that last point.  I’m very aware of the public health infrastructure capacity building.  It’s a battle that I’ve embarked upon for five years.  Unfortunately, or due to the bioterrorism on September 11th, we now see roughly 67 plus 20 million coming to California for public health infrastructure and capacity building, and part of that is our lab system.  We have, I think, maybe one Level 4 lab in the whole state.  After all of this goes away, we are going to have that very compelling public health tracking of communicable diseases, the ability to communicate and transfer information, and that really is the foundation of our public health system.


I think California is going to do it well.  Many of us are poised to assure that it is done well, and thank you for that CDC assistance.  I think we’ve managed to get a grant here in this region, but that was what we cobbled together before the federal dollars came down.  You’re absolutely right to make that point because it’ll help us do the kinds of things that have to be done.


I have a number of questions for you, but let me hold off and see whether my colleagues have questions on your testimony.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER DION ARONER:  As you know, we built a beautiful new building in the city of Richmond, and it’s a state-of-the-art facility.  People who work there are in partnership with CDC.  That’s the idea.  And it’s only missing 500 employees, approximately.  It’s a staffing issue for us in regards to it at this time.  This would be the time to bring such attention to the issues that are studied there and the work that’s done there because it’s our first line of defense.  If we can’t figure out a way to use the new federal dollars to at least start staffing up our state force, we’ve got a real problem.


DR. JACKSON:  Our laboratory at CDC, just the chemical lab, has 85 of these mass spectrographs.  They’re million-dollar instruments.  They are not the most important thing in that laboratory.  The most important thing in that laboratory are the people that are running those machines.  You can have computers that run these systems.  You can have the most elaborate equipment in the world running them.  But sooner or later the quality of a laboratory, the quality of the intelligence that you bring to bear to the problems you’re addressing, completely depends on the training and ability of the people that are hired to do it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.  I think we’ve got that figured out.  We’ve just got to make sure, as we go through the next few months, that it’s implemented in that manner.


I want to ask a number of questions that came to mind as I was reading the report and some of the other materials.  In your professional opinion, does the evidence suggest that chemicals that cause mammary tumors in animals can also cause cancer in women?  Because that’s the question.  It’d go from animal studies to human studies.  Talk a bit about that ability to do so.


DR. JACKSON:  You know, we human beings have essentially the same biochemical machinery as these test animals.  The belief that, somehow, if it causes cancer in them we’re going to be immune to it just isn’t true.  We need to pay very close attention.  If eighty, ninety different chemicals are found to cause cancer in animals, we need to be very, very careful about the exposure of our children and ourselves to those chemicals at the same time.


I will tell you that doing human epidemiology – and I worked on the McFarland cancer cluster here in California and others – there is nothing more difficult than trying to go out into a community when the alarm has already been raised.  You’re trying to figure out what people are exposed to.  It is very difficult doing human studies.  You really do have to depend a lot of the time on what the laboratory scientist is telling you from the test animals.  It is very important to pay attention to that information.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you.


A couple of other questions.  It’s my understanding that the chemicals are monitored and studied one chemical at a time.  Is this actually the case?  To the degree we can have assurance that chemicals have undergone some series of testing to determine that they’re safe for sale, please comment on that.


DR. JACKSON:  Twenty years ago in California many of the chemicals that were being used really had never been adequately tested.  They’d all been grandfathered in, grandmothered in, from years before.  The data gaps on pesticides have been filled, in part, because of the important leadership of California.  When California obliged and required the data gaps be filled, the rest of the nation and the rest of the world benefited from California’s leadership.


But that’s been one chemical at a time, and it’s appropriate, if we’re going to use a chemical on food or in our environment, to test it for cancer or birth defects and all these things.  But it is done one at a time.  There are new computerized modeling systems where the molecule was designed on a computer that one could actually look to see if it might act the way of something that we know is a bad actor.  But, in general, it is still done one at a time.


In this monitoring that we’re doing, looking at humans, we’re actually looking at groups.  For example, disinfection byproducts in the shower water that you’re using, or volatile organic solvents like the chemicals that would be used in a dry cleaner and the rest.  In that situation we’re looking at groups.  But generally, chemicals, as they’re going through the approval process, partly because it costs millions of dollars, it’s done one at a time.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me then ask the next obvious question.  Do we study mixtures of chemicals such as mixtures in solvents used in different industries?  Should we be looking at chemical cocktail studies?


DR. JACKSON:  I think the story of lead poisoning is very instructive in some ways.  Twenty years ago we discovered that lead damaged the developing brain, and we began to remove lead from the environment – from gasoline, from paint, from food, and other sources – and we’ve seen a dramatic reduction in lead levels.


We knew very little twenty years ago about the effects of lead compared to what we know now, but we had enough evidence to move towards beginning to reduce; to be cautious about people being exposed to those chemicals.


What I’m driving at is if you’ve got 80,000 chemicals in commerce and you’re looking at how you’re going to cluster two, three, five, ten, however many permutations are going to be done, it is impossible sooner or later to look at all the possible mixtures.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  But we probably should be looking at some mixtures is the implication here.


Senator Kuehl.


SENATOR SHEILA KUEHL:  I’m not even sure how to formulate this question or if it’s answerable, but we have had a number of hearings on, for want of a better phrase, sick buildings – sort of the toxic mold question, which is also suffering from the same sort of, well, we’re not sure if we can tie this to any particular disease or condition – and work environments in which there’s something wrong with the building.  I wonder whether this is somewhere in the same investigation about different sources of potential human condition or disease and these so-called sick buildings.


DR. JACKSON:  A couple of quick thoughts.  One is the evidence for cancer.  Everything that causes cancer in humans ends up causing it in test animals.  Animals are pretty good predictors.  There’s a huge amount of science that’s gone on for twenty-five years in the cancer arena.  Literally, hundreds of millions, billions of dollars, have been spent on research.


What we know in the mold arena is still very little.  In fact, CDC did one of the original studies in Chicago of children who were essentially coughing up blood, and some of them died from this.  Clearly, all of us should not be breathing mold in high levels.  The question is:  Would small amounts at the corner of the shower do any harm?  It’s unlikely, I think, in that situation.  But the jury is still very much out on what are the actual risks and hazards from mold.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I think the mycotoxins, actually the processes of molds once they generate – mycotoxins are known to be carcinogens – so it’s the mold and then the mycotoxins which we are hoping we get the science.


SENATOR KUEHL:  It’s a very difficult thing.  I’m reminded, I think, of Woody Allen’s movie Sleeper in which we found that everything caused cancer but potato chips.  That was all you could eat, contrary to what everybody thought.


I don’t know very much at all about the scientific method applied to even studying these potential connections, where animals are the subject of testing and we conclude on individual kinds of toxins or causes.


To follow up on the Chair’s question about the combination of things, there are workplaces not even related to the toxic mold issue in which whole populations of workers will report falling ill or breaking into a rash without knowing.  It could be something in the air conditioning.  I imagine that these are also potentially connected in ways that we don’t know about.  It may be that so many things are connected that it’s almost impossible for us to really understand.  But I don’t know whether there have been any studies about those kinds of maybe even airborne pathogens, etc.


DR. JACKSON:  I am not an occupational health specialist.  I would like to comment; it goes back to this comment about trained workforce and people that can respond.  These reports of a hazardous work site or people becoming ill from a certain meal or something else, or even a cluster of cancer cases, they have got to be taken seriously.  They’ve got to be investigated.  You cannot dismiss public concern about some cluster of some problem without going and looking; looking at people and their illnesses, looking at their environments, and trying to figure out what is going on.  You cannot do it without people.


SENATOR KUEHL:  Thank you.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Senator Chesbro, I believe, has some questions.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  I’m curious about the additives to plastics – the phthalates.  You made reference to it’s used to make plastics more flexible.  Is it present in all of the soft plastic packaging like the grocery bags and the produce bags and the bags that hold prepackaged products?  Is it common to be used in direct contact with food products?


DR. JACKSON:  Phthalates are a group of softening agents.  They’re spreading agents.  I remember when I started working in Environmental Health and we were looking at water samples from around the state.  Most of them had high levels of phthalates in them and everyone said, “Oh, ignore that because phthalates are everywhere.”  It’s that nice smell when you get in a new car, by the way, because it’s used as a softening agent in the lotion on the leather and the vinyl and the rest.  


We can measure high levels in the urine of our citizenry, as I mentioned.  The highest levels were in women of reproductive age.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  That was a great answer but it didn’t directly answer my question.  Do you know if the common types of plastic packaging that food is put in – for example, a bag that you put your lettuce in when you’re at the grocery store, that soft plastic – would that be likely to have phthalates?  If you don’t know the answer to that, that’s perfectly all right.  It just raised curiosity and alarm bells in my mind about direct contact with what we put into our bodies every day.


DR. JACKSON:  I don’t feel comfortable in answering that.


MS. EVANS:  I would give a lay person’s answer on that, which I gleaned when we made the documentary film Rachel’s Daughters several years ago.  One of the scientists from Tufts University said that you should never store fatty foods in plastic containers or microwave fatty foods in plastic containers because the phthalates tend to be fat-seeking.  In other words, they go into the fatty food, and heat helps speed that process along.  So, whether we know how that works or not, one thing people can do is not microwave in plastic and not store fatty foods in plastic containers.  Glass or ceramic are inert.


SENATOR CHESBRO:  It was a very specific question and, of course, what it points out, though, is your larger point of the omnipresence of these chemicals in so many multitude of different ways that people can be exposed to it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I have a couple of other questions.  I wanted to comment on what I think Senator Kuehl was asking.  We probably see a lot of environmental factors, whether they’re chemical workplace situations or other factors in combination with exposures that may, in fact, give a fuller picture as well.  I think that it’s important that we look at this as the beginning of the foundation that focuses on these environmental factors or chemical exposures as they relate to breast cancer, and that we need more data that is focused on asking the very questions that arise out of the testimony that’s been presented.  It’s just a difficult time in California to be able to fund this really critical research.  It really tells us what we need to pursue further.


I know that I had asked whether or not we could have technical assistance from our Department of Toxics and Substance Control, and I believe we have Kim Hooper here that I’ve asked to come forward to answer some questions.


I do appreciate you cooperating with us.  I had asked to get some weigh-in by DTSC on some of these questions related to the studies that were presented by Dr. Jackson.


Welcome, Dr. Hooper.


I have a few questions and I want to go through each of them.  It’s my understanding there’s quite a bit of scientific data on the presence of chemicals in breast milk.  This is one of the recommendations of the five points that I was most intrigued by that may form a foundation for some policymaking.  


Can you provide some technical direction on the premise that breast milk and concentrations of chemicals and higher levels than commercial sales of milks would be able to be sold in our stores, whether that is an issue and whether you can provide technical assistance as to that posing a risk to breast feeding infants?


DR. KIM HOOPER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Sorry to put you on the spot.


DR. HOOPER:  Let me think about it and try to get to the answer.  


I’m struck by the commonality of many of the comments here, that we’re seeing, increasingly, links between disease and what we call our chemical body burdens.  For those of you to get it clear all on the same page, chemicals get into our bodies and built up in our bodies, and scientists refer to these colloquially as chemical body burdens, as though each of us has a little bag of chemicals we carry around on our backs; but, of course, they’re in our bodies.  Because there are increasing links to disease, it’s becoming more and more important that we keep track of these and find out what chemicals are getting in and what their levels are; find out more about our body burdens.  The question is:  What do we do about it?


I think we can take a page out of the health effects monitoring, which there are disease registries that record incidence of cancer or birth defects.  California has a California Tumor Registry and it has a California Birth Defects Monitoring Program, and they track in California where the cases are, give a time, date, and location.  They can look for hotspots.  They can look for time trends to see what’s happening with rates over time.


An exposure registry, a body burden registry, could play an equally important role in disease prevention and protection of public health.  We don’t have that here.  We’d have to look toward our European neighbors – Sweden, Denmark, Norway, other countries – that have small registries; they’re smaller countries.  If we look at some Swedish data – I don’t have it with me but I can sketch it – they’ve looked at body burdens in residents of Stockholm over, say, a twenty-five year period, 1975 to the year 2000 – and for some chemicals they find decreases, 50 percent decreases, over this period.  So, registries can tell us how we’re doing in terms of limiting chemical exposures.  It can act as a report card.  These were chemicals that were regulated, so it gives us a nice feedback as to how we’re doing.  In this case, regulation works. 


Another group of chemicals that seem to be increasing steeply, shooting upwards expedientially, doubling every five years – these are chemicals people had not previously paid attention to.  So, another function of a registry could be to point the finger, get us to pay attention, to things we hadn’t previously thought of.  These particular examples of these obscure chemicals were flame retardants.  They had found ten years before similar increases in ocean sediments going up but nothing was done.  These body burdens were found using breast milk, so when the effects were found in breast milk, there was a large public and regulatory response, and the levels now, instead of going up, are curving and going down because there’s been some action taken.


I think in Sweden, at least, when breast milk speaks people listen, and it’s an important tissue to think about.  So, there is an argument to be made to monitor breast milk, to look at body burdens by looking at breast milk.  And it’s not to say breast milk is bad; it’s just to say this is what is in our bodies in our community.


If we wanted to look at body burdens, we can look at blood; we can look at adipose tissue; we can look at breast milk.  Breast milk is good because it’s noninvasive.  It’s easy; it’s convenient for the donor.  The woman just expresses milk into a jar and puts it in the refrigerator, much as she would for an infant.  It targets the reproductive age population:  the young mother.  It also, in a sense, gives us insight into developmentally sensitive populations:  infant and child.  And, I guess, most importantly, people care about breast milk.  It matters to them.  They’d like to feed clean breast milk to their infant.  So, there is that part of it too.


In addition, I think it encourages breast feeding, which is needed in the United States.  Only 60 percent of new mothers initiate breast feeding and 20 percent at six months.  The record is poorer among lower income groups who are exactly those groups that probably could most benefit from breast feeding the infants for economic reasons as well as health reasons.  As Dr. Jackson said, breast milk is the best food.  It increases resistance to disease.  I think it increases mental performance and is generally just a good thing.


So, we could do that in California because we can locate lactating women, looking at the women, infants, and children’s clinics.  There are 600 of them in California.  Almost two-thirds of the babies born in California attend the WIC clinics.  So, we have a sizable population to look at.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Two-thirds of every—?


DR. HOOPER:  Sixty-two percent of the new babies born in California serve the WIC clinics.  That’s data from the WIC program with the Department of Health Services.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Amazing.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER ARONER:  I thought we were serving only around 25 percent of those eligible.


DR. HOOPER:  This is data that they gave me on the WIC program.  You can check with them, but that’s the data.  Of the new infants born in California, 62 percent attend the WIC clinics.


ASSEMBLYMEMBER ARONER:  All right.  We had always understood that only around 25 percent of those eligible got services from WIC.


DR. HOOPER:  Of those eligible?


ASSEMBLYMEMBER ARONER:  You’re eligible for many more years than just infancy.  


DR. HOOPER:  No, I think this is the newborns.  I asked them that specifically:  Was everyone eligible or newborns?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Maybe we can get clarification and we’ll share that, but thank you for that statistic.


DR. HOOPER:  At any rate, there’s a large number.  There are 600 clinics, and using those you could create a map of California, where the hotspots are, and look at time trends.  That would be something I think we could do which might assist us in protecting public health and environmental quality.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Absolutely.  This is very important.  We have three means of potentially collecting data through a biomonitoring mechanism.  The easiest appears to be breast milk but could include the blood sample model that CDC’s utilized, apparently, to measure – and urine or fat, which is probably the most invasive.


I will make the case for the Tumor Registry in California that every year we’ve tried to fund and have been unsuccessful.  That is sorely neglected as well, whether there’s a component of being able to develop the talking among the Tumor Registry collection of data and identifying if we were fortunate enough to devise a system, maybe with the help in financing of CDC.  That doesn’t commit you on the record at all, but it’s precisely the kind of data we need to move forward beyond the studies that are here.


I appreciate your technical assistance.  I know it’s not an official position, and I do appreciate you weighing in on this.


Other Members before Dr. Hooper leaves?  Thank you so much.


Questions for other witnesses in this panel?  Thank you so much for this information.  It is so valuable, and I do appreciate it.


Our final panel – I believe we’ve got four speakers – which is “Next Steps:  Business/Science/Advocacy/Public Policy.”  


Welcome.  We are doing well on time.  We’re a little ahead, but if there’s a way that we could hold on to Members and move through testimony fairly quickly, it would be probably better so we can have questions poised.


I believe, in order of speaking – I don’t know if Mr. Erickson is proposed to go first.  I think we are asking testimony to be limited to five minutes.  That gives us up to five minutes for questions, so generally that’s what I would like to ask of you all.


Welcome, Mr. Erickson.


MR. GARY ERICKSON:  Madam Chair, thank you.  Members, thank you.


My name is Gary Erickson.  I am CEO and owner of Clif Bar, Incorporated.  You may be familiar with our products that also include LUNA Bars made specifically for women.  Our company, based in Berkeley, is a leading maker of nutrition bars.  Last year we sold over 125 million Clif bars and LUNA bars nationwide.  We have been listed in the Inc. 500’s fastest growing privately held companies for four years in a row.  We contract four manufacturing sites, all in California.  We employ one hundred people full-time in Berkeley, and in manufacturing we employ another two hundred people full-time.  It just so happens that we are celebrating our tenth anniversary this month.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Congratulations.


MR. ERICKSON:  Thank you.


I’m here to talk about my personal commitment to running a sustainable business; an environmentally sound, socially responsible business that does not use or produce toxic chemicals.  I believe we have enough evidence to know that toxic chemicals are contributing not only to breast cancer but also to a host of other cancers and illnesses.


The main point I want to make today is it is good business to do clean business.  Companies can take the necessary steps to eliminate the use and production of toxic chemicals.  Companies can stop workplace exposures to protect the health of their employees.  I’m here today because I believe that business can be a driving force to improve rather than degrade our health and our environment.


The Clif Bar story is clear evidence that we are fulfilling the significant consumer demand for healthy products.  This means that consumers choose to support clean businesses.


I’ve seen firsthand how people cut corners when handling toxic chemicals.  I worked for ten years in the bicycle industry.  There, I worked directly with toxic chemicals and solvents.  Because my father had been assistant chief of Cal/OSHA Consultation, I was aware of the dangers of workplace exposures.  Yet, in spite of this awareness, I know that our workplace was not safe due to the toxic nature of materials we used.  I know that in spite of the ventilators we installed, all of us in the factory, even several pregnant women, were breathing in dangerous fumes every day at work.


From this experience, I know that the only safe way to work with toxic materials is to eliminate their use altogether and to find nontoxic substitutes.  That’s why I made a clear choice ten years ago to run my own business differently when I started Clif Bar.  From the beginning we decided to create a product with no artificial ingredients, to run a clean and safe workplace, and to make employee and consumer health a key priority.


Here are some of the things we are doing to move ourselves towards sustainability:

· In our manufacturing plants, we decided from the beginning not to use toxic solvents to clean the machinery.  Instead, we use nontoxic citrus-based cleaners.  

· In our nutrition bars themselves, we use all natural ingredients that are minimally processed without the use of chemicals.  We also do not use genetically modified ingredients.

· Within our company, we’ve instituted an environmental education program, and I personally network with like-minded CEOs in other corporations to share information about sustainable practices.

· We have instituted a number of environmental efforts that have produced a significant cost savings.  For example, in our Berkeley office, we’re purchasing recycled paper and reducing overall paper use.  An energy audit revealed changes, thus improving energy efficiency and use.

· We have redesigned packaging materials to reduce overall plastic use.


I am pleased to acknowledge that many companies are corporate sponsors of breast cancer groups.  I truly believe that this is an important role that companies can play and we applaud that.  Our role, however, is more than sponsorship.  We have made a commitment to sustainability; to a way of doing business that does not harm people’s health or the environment.  By embracing this as a top priority for Clif Bar, we want lawmakers to understand that, without reservation, this makes business sense, because our bottom line – that is, our profits – keeps growing ever year.


So, to you as lawmakers, we must weigh the public interest.  I wanted to show you that it is possible and very doable to encourage more sustainable practices in all California businesses – in agriculture, in manufacturing, and in service industries, in large businesses, and in small.  


Clean business will reduce the rising tide of breast cancer, and clean business is just good business.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for weighing in and also saying what many of us need to determine, and probably believe, that there is, in fact, a market for clean and environmentally sound practices and ingredients.  I think it’s the niche in evolving an area of the market that more and more the informed, resourceful consumers will find their way to.  Let’s hope there’ll become available more options for the consumers.  Thank you for that.


I’m also informed by your representative that you have a climbing wall in the middle of your place of business?


MR. ERICKSON:  Yes.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  So you stress fitness?


ASSEMBLYMEMBER ARONER:  And a fabulous workout facility as well for their employees.  This is for their employees.  It’s a phenomenal work space.  I have had the pleasure of visiting it.  It does show, thank goodness, a very profitable operation.


SENATOR KUEHL:  We told her to go climb a rock and she decided she just wanted—  (Laughter)


ASSEMBLYMEMBER ARONER:  That’s right.  In my district it’s not difficult to go climb a rock, and you can even have assistance from good business.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’ve got lower costs in Sacramento.  We’ve got some really key economic corridors—  (Laughter)


MR. ERICKSON:  You’ll roll out the red carpet for us?


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Absolutely.


MR. ERICKSON:  Okay, thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’re teasing about this.  This is really important because I think you’re not a small business.  Your LUNA Bars are well displayed in a local co-op, that I will not name but it’s a really wonderful co-op in our region, and elsewhere, actually, beyond the co-op.  We need that message conveyed because I know there will be those who suggest that somehow the cost of making those changes are burdensome, and they may, in fact, in some instances, be a little easier for government to assist in that transition for good practices.


MR. ERICKSON:  Exactly.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much.


Questions from Members?  Let’s go to the next speaker.


Welcome, Dr. Kyle.


DR. AMY KYLE:  My name is Amy Kyle, and I’m from the School of Public Health at the University of California at Berkeley.  I’ve been asked to speak today by Patricia Buffler, who was originally scheduled to appear but is ill.  Though, I have to say these are my views, not necessarily anyone else’s – just so we’re clear.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That’s usually a disclaimer for really good testimony, so thank you.  (Laughter)


DR. KYLE:  Well, I don’t have a climbing wall or anything really cool like that to talk about.


On a more somber note, we have been talking about breast cancer and the really horrifying effect that breast cancer has on women today who we all know and who live in our communities.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  And men.  We ought not to forget men are a key part of that.


DR. KYLE:  That’s right.  Thank you.  And it’s important to point out that breast cancer is on an opposite trajectory from some other kinds of major cancers because incidence is going up; whereas, in a lot of other cancers we’re seeing it go down.  So, it’s important when we think about cancer and cancer rates to note that there’s some things happening with breast cancer, maybe, that are different from some other things.


Also, I would mention that while treatments of breast cancer may be increasing in effectiveness, at least for white women – maybe not so much for black women – we haven’t made progress in preventing the disease.  Prevention needs to be a primary goal because even successful treatment, as we’ve heard, causes pain and suffering and a lot of debilitating effects.  Not to mention the fact that there is an anxiety and worry that goes along with that.  There’s no assurance that treatment will be successful.  So, I want to stress that prevention of this disease is an important thing to be moving toward.


So, how can we do that?  How can we get from where we are now to a more prevention-oriented approach?  


One thing that I feel confident of, and I come from the research side of the world, is that doing the same kind of studies that we have been doing over the years is not going to get us to a different kind of result than what we’ve seen in the past.  I’d like to point out that now we know that certain factors that affect women’s hormone levels do affect their risk of breast cancer.  We know that.  That’s been established.  We also know that those can’t be changed in any significant way.  Equally important, we know that these hormonally related factors explain only a fraction of the breast cancer that we’re seeing.  So, we know we can’t change them and we know that it’s only a part of the story.


The same is true for genetic factors.  We’ve heard a lot about genetics.  You mentioned the various genes that have been studied and found to be associated with breast cancers.  They’ve received a lot of attention.  And we know that certain genes definitely increase women’s breast cancer risk.  We also know that we can’t change that.  And we also know that it’s only a very small fraction.  So, when we’re talking about this upward trajectory, the hormonal factors and the genetic factors, it’s not sufficient.  It doesn’t explain a lot of what we’re seeing.


So, it’s time to look elsewhere.  Where?  What we need to see, I would respectfully suggest to you all, are innovation and research and a focus on prevention; not detection and treatment solely.  Of course, they’re important, but we need to move towards prevention.  We’re not going to push back this upward trajectory by using the same things that we’ve been doing for the last twenty, thirty, forty years.  We need to look at different possibilities, and environmental factors are high on that list of things that would need to be seriously looked at.


So, what will lead to innovation and research and a focus on prevention?  How do we get there?  We believe – again, speaking from a university perspective, for Dr. Buffler and myself; I know she believes this very much – we believe that the best way to make progress on research that can contribute to identifying modifiable causes of breast cancer is for researchers to work with people in the breast cancer advocacy community and people in the larger community on these questions of research and prevention.


We, at the School of Public Health at UC Berkeley, are now working with many of the people you’ve heard from already today to plan and organize a conference where we hope we can all think together as a group across differences of background and understanding and passion also.  The advocates bring a sense of purpose and passion and insistence on answers that is very useful for researchers to hear.  We want to hold this conference and we will hold this meeting in May.  And I wish to acknowledge that this has been largely funded by the Centers for Disease Control.


So, how will this be different from the many meetings that have been held before?  First of all, our steering committee is composed of scientists, breast cancer advocates, and community representatives in equal numbers.  Because of this, we’re going to hear about more than the typical scientific presentations.  We’re going to start with what we know about causes of breast cancer but then we’re going to move into what’s unexplained.  We’re going to focus on the unexplained.  We’ll look systematically at environmental factors that may contribute to breast cancer.  We’re going to look at the completeness of testing and the adequacy of research along the lines of some of the questions that have been asked here today.  And we’re going to be considering how communities can be directly involved in formulating hypotheses for research, and also interpreting and evaluating results to really bring together the advocacy and the research communities.


Another novel feature of this approach is that we’re going to consider looking at how much we need to know before we take action to reduce exposures.  Maybe in some cases we know enough to take action now.  And we’re going to be working together to develop recommendation and action plans for funding priorities, research designs, environmental contaminants that need attention, and policy actions to suggest now.  My hope is that we’ll begin to better integrate these fields of health and environment to move forward on looking at this problem.  


Will this be successful?  It’s a high-risk thing to try to do this.  A lot of people are going to try to communicate across some big differences in style, language, knowledge, and expectation.  We’re taking on a big agenda with a lot of complicated patterns of evidence and difficult methodological issues.  But judging from the commitment of all the participants that we’ve had up to this time, and their unbelievable commitment to moving this agenda forward, we feel very confident that this will be successful and it will be important in moving this on.


So, what can you do to help?  With all due respect, I would suggest that one key is to insist that the research community find the causes of breast cancer.  That’s a very fundamental thing but we haven’t done it yet.  Too many people can’t ask those questions.


The second thing is that we need to insist that the policy community take action to address this accumulation of chemicals in the body of women.  We don’t know all the implications of every chemical in our body, but we know there are a lot of them.  We know a lot of them have caused bad effects in rats.  We know a lot.  I would submit as a scientist we know this can’t be a good thing.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your testimony and your recommendations.  We’re listening.  Thank you so much.


DR. KYLE:  I can see that.  Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We have two final speakers.  Ms. Barbara Brenner.  


Welcome.


MS. BARBARA BRENNER:  Thank you, Madam Chair, and members of the Legislature.  Thank you for convening and attending this very important hearing on the issue of the environment and breast cancer.


I’m Barbara Brenner.  I’m the executive director of Breast Cancer Action, the oldest and largest grassroots breast cancer organization in this state.  Our mission is to carry the voices of people affected by breast cancer to inspire and compel the changes to end this epidemic.  We are a national nonprofit organization dedicated to finding and eradicating the causes of breast cancer.


I’m also a member of the dreaded sisterhood of women with breast cancer, but I’m not here to talk about that today.


I’m here representing Breast Cancer Action’s thousands of members throughout California as well as many thousands of people served by the other organizations that are also sponsoring this presentation to you today.  Breast Cancer Action and The Breast Cancer Fund are responsible for the “State of the Evidence” document that is at the heart of today’s presentation.  


I also want to introduce you to the other organizations on whose behalf I am speaking today:  


The Women’s Cancer Resource Center is a nonprofit organization that provides free direct services such as in-home practical support and information and referral for women with cancer, and works on policies that focus on eliminating carcinogens in the environment.  


Bayview Hunters Point Community Advocates is a nonprofit community-based organization – you heard from Karen Pierce, its president – focused on addressing environmental justice issues and the disproportionately high rates of disease among residents of the Bayview Hunters Point neighborhood of San Francisco.  


Marin Breast Cancer Watch is a grassroots nonprofit organization that works through community-based research – of the type that Amy was referring to – education, and public policy advocacy to find the causes and stop the breast cancer epidemic.  


The Charlotte Maxwell Complementary Clinic is a state-licensed acupuncture clinic – the first in the state – that provides free complementary and alternative medicine treatments, including acupuncture, herbs, homeopathy, and massage to low-income women with cancer.  They’re based in Oakland.


As you can tell, our organizations cover the universe of breast cancer issues in California.  We provide information to people who need it.  We organize people in their communities on breast cancer issues affecting them.  We provide direct practical support to women with cancer and complementary therapies such as acupuncture to poor women in treatment.  We work with the scientific community to find the causes of breast cancer and to create a healthy environment.  We work with local officials to address the health impacts on communities devastated by toxics.  We work with policymakers whenever an issue related to breast cancer arises, and we work with the media to make sure that coverage of breast cancer issues is accurate and responsible, which is a great challenge, I can assure you.  Together, we reach people in every corner of the state.  


We are in the trenches of the failed war on cancer, and we see and experience every day the devastation that the increasing incidence of breast cancer is having in California’s communities.  


While our work often takes us in different directions, there is a place where we all come together.  Along with many, many other organizations and thousands of individuals throughout California and the country, we are part of a growing movement focused on the environmental links to breast cancer and other cancers.  What we all have in common is that we care deeply about finding and eradicating the causes of the unrelenting breast cancer epidemic.  We believe that getting to the root causes of breast cancer may well help us understand how environmental toxins are related to other cancers.  And we are committed to the precautionary principle – the concept of “better safe than sorry” – as one important way to start ending the scourge of breast cancer.


All of us see this hearing today as an important step in the process of the Legislature educating itself on issues on which the public is already engaged.  By doing so, California’s elected representatives can be sure that they will be ahead of, not behind, the public they serve.  


We believe that the next step in this critical educational process should be a joint Senate/Assembly hearing on the issues raised by the “State of the Evidence” document and the testimony you are hearing today.  We hope that a joint session sometime later this year will help to bring all the legislators on board with the importance of getting at the root of the breast cancer problem in California.  We believe that with a joint legislative hearing, California can begin to look at the specific legislative measures that will turn the tide of the breast cancer epidemic.  The kinds of approaches outlined in our action plan – which Jeanne will address – should receive serious consideration.  


Breast Cancer Action, The Breast Cancer Fund, the Women’s Cancer Resource Center, Bayview Hunters Point Community Advocates, Marin Breast Cancer Watch, and the Charlotte Maxwell Complementary Clinic are prepared to work with you and your colleagues to make sure that the critical issues related to breast cancer and environmental exposures are addressed by the California Legislature.  Our constituents and yours believe that only by advancing the precautionary principle do we have any hope of stemming the rising tide of breast cancer.  We welcome your leadership on these important issues.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for your testimony and your request for a joint hearing.  I’m sure Ms. Brownsey and I will be chatting about that, so thank you.


Welcome, our final speaker, Ms. Rizzo, who I was fortunate enough to chat with today, but please go ahead and give us your testimony.


MS. RIZZO:  Thank you, Madam Chair, and Members.  


Again, my name is Jeanne Rizzo.  As executive director of The Breast Cancer Fund, and on behalf of all the distinguished presenters who have come before you today, I extend our appreciation for your deep concern.  We hold great hope that this day will be remembered as the turning point in the breast cancer epidemic in California, and we’ll credit you, Senator Ortiz, for the leadership on that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  A lot of good people have been working on that, but thank you.


MS. RIZZO:  The important message we bring today is that there is ample evidence that synthetic chemicals in the environment are contributing to breast cancer, and we must take precautionary measures to save women’s lives.


We’ve come to you prepared with testimony that reflects a broad-based commitment to identifying and eliminating the environmental causes of breast cancer; testimony that signals the need to reframe the question:  What is the cause of the staggering rise in breast cancer rates?  How can we stop the escalation and, ultimately, how can we prevent it?  When all known risk factors and characteristics are added together, as we’ve discussed before, more than 50 percent of the breast cancer rates remain unexplained.  The lifetime risk for breast cancer has leaped from 1 in 22 to 1 in 8 since the 1940s.  Parts of California are the highest in the nation with lifetime risk of 1 in 7.  Any other illness with this rate of escalation and incidence would certainly be treated as a public health crisis.


Detection, however debatably early it is, is not prevention.  Treatment that exposes us to radiation, toxic chemicals, and surgical insult – and all too often proves ineffective – is not a solution.  


We’ve come to you prepared today with information.  The “State of the Evidence:  What is the Connection Between Chemicals and Breast Cancer?” – a year in the making, reviewed and endorsed by leading scientists and advocates – is the road map.  It establishes the starting point.  “State of the Evidence” shows where we are today.  This is what we know.  While it is not enough to be satisfied and certainly not enough to save the lives of all the women living with breast cancer in our state, it is certainly enough to take action to turn the tide.


An estimated 85,000 synthetic chemicals are registered for use today in the United States.  Complete toxicological screening data is available for only 7 percent of these chemicals, and more than 90 percent have never been tested for their effects on human health.  We need to shift the burden of proof of harm resting with the public to proof of safety being the responsibility of those who introduce chemicals into our environment.  


We have major gaps in our current knowledge about breast cancer and the environment, but it’s not simply a matter of more research.  We need to focus our research, as Dr. Amy Kyle talked about, on efforts and areas that are most likely to provide useful information for framing public policies related to chemical exposures and health.  Again, as Dr. Kyle referred to, the CDC-funded Summit on Breast Cancer and the Environment is the step in that direction.  Scientists and all the breast cancer activists that you’ve heard about today have been involved with that.  We’ve been working together for almost two years to craft this summit.  The outcome of the May summit will be recommendations for the national research agenda on breast cancer and the environment.


We’ve come to you with a plan.  A statewide commitment to basic environmental health efforts will reduce the risk and incidence of breast cancer.  The breast cancer advocacy organizations represented here today work together in coalition with other health, environmental, environmental justice, and health-affected groups throughout California and the nation.  We work together to inform public policy.  We model our efforts on the precautionary principle, which says that evidence of harm, rather than proof of harm, should trigger action.  


“State of the Evidence” leads us to the next steps in public policy for the State of California:

· The phase-out of unnecessary use of toxic chemicals by requiring toxic use reduction planning and clean production planning by state government and all doing business with state government.

· Sunshine and surveillance.  The enactment of “sunshine laws,” which are laws that just shed light on something, as you all know.  


Massachusetts has proven over the last ten years that simply requiring companies to report how many tons of chemicals they use will significantly (by 73 percent) reduce the use of toxics.  The strengthening and enforcement of existing environmental protection laws can make a significant impact and send an important message.  The California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) requires only potential for significant impact.  That’s 10 to 30 percent likelihood is the basis for action.  Not proof 95 percent.  Not even overwhelming evidence, but potential for significant impact.

· The adoption of the practice of healthy purchasing with the State of California leading the way; by itself purchasing environmentally preferable products, thereby creating an example for individuals, businesses, and hospitals to follow.

· Offer corporate incentives that encourage businesses to eliminate the use of harmful chemicals in their products and processes.  


Rewards need not overburden the state budget; although you’re welcome to overburden the state budget.  We won’t mind that, but we understand that now is not a good time to have that conversation.  If you just prioritize that “green” companies will be considered in government contracts, that’s a good place to start.  One of the pros for a company would be:  Is it green?

· The monitoring of breast milk through a comprehensive community program that identifies the chemicals present in breast milk.  You certainly heard about that from many testifiers today.  And establishing a link to the geographic areas of where that breast milk was tested.  And then, of course, initiating a plan to eliminate the more than 200 contaminants that are in this once purest of food.


As we talked about, most breast milk would not pass the FDA.  Breast milk is still the best.  We want it to be better.  We want it to be good enough.


We’ve come to you ready to work and prepared to take any action that will support your efforts to ensure the health of all Californians.  In addition to the panels of presenters here today, the staff members of the alliance of breast cancer advocacy organizations are at your service to answer questions, to provide additional information, and to work with you every step of the way in the future.


On behalf of all women who have faced breast cancer and all who live in fear of getting the disease, we thank you for this unprecedented opportunity; and to you, Senator Ortiz, again our deepest appreciation for your leadership.


June Jordan, whom many of you may know, who’s an African American poet, activist, and a professor at the University of California and in your district, she’s in the throes right now of terminal metastatic breast cancer.  She asked that I bring this message, and the message is:  “We are the ones that we’ve been waiting for.”  


The public doesn’t want to wait, we know you don’t want to wait, and we’re here to help speed that along.


Thank you very much.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for that moving conclusion, and for all of your testimony and recommendations to guide us.  This is really an area that there’s so many people in the Legislature – Members in both houses – who care about this.  We’ve been trying to cobble together policy, and this presents another policy opportunity to narrow the focus and glean out of the scientific data that is there and have that form the foundation for our policymaking.  You’ve left us with many good recommendations.  Some may, in fact, be achievable in a very short term, and others may take us years.  But I want to assure you that there’s no absence of passion for this, either because we care about it or we have had family members.


Thank you for bringing home the importance of it in a way that really leaves us few options other than to move forward.


Assemblymember Aroner.  


ASSEMBLYMEMBER ARONER:  I just wanted to pick up on the comments regarding having Phil come and present to us at some point, which I think would really be helpful to have the second round and do a joint hearing and maybe with the women’s caucus sponsoring it with the two committees; however we can do it to expand the knowledge base.  Information is what’s key here and everybody working from the same page.  


The discussion regarding the connection between the environment and cancer is one that I think we need to understand better.  It’s been out there – we read about  it – but as far as the documentation showing us and also maybe showing what the threshold is as to why you want to discuss it, because that’s what it sounds like to me is we want to use a different threshold as to why we want to bring it to the forefront, it seems to have made sense to the public for so long that there are environmental concerns here, but we’ve had a hard time getting policymakers to understand it.  I think that’s the next step is to have that discussion and to have it publicly here at the Legislature.  


It is a difficult year, as you know.  We’re missing a few dollars, to say the least.  But that doesn’t mean that we can’t take the organizational steps because part of it is a process a body has to go through, being the public, which has gone through a lot and is certainly responding to their family members.  Deborah is the survivor of a survivor and someone who passed away.  My mother was a breast cancer patient in 1948 and lived to be 89 years old and died last year.  


So, we are learning a lot, but obviously I’m concerned not only about myself, as Deb is about herself, but about our children and our grandchildren.  The question is:  How do we make the connections and how do we take those steps that need to be made so that policymakers can understand the links?  Because I think that’s what then brings us into the discussion, and particularly the discussion that brings with it dollars, because it’s always going to come down to as our priorities, as we get our priorities together:  How do we fit this into our list of priorities?  


Considering the data, and somebody said it’s 1 in 7 in California and eventually it could be one in one at the rate we’re going, it is time for us to come to grips with this.  There are everyday kinds of things that we can do, and that’s been proven by Clif Bar just making some simple changes in how they do business and not necessarily costly ones.  But even if they have a financial impact, the bottom line is still better because they have a healthier workforce and one that’s going to stay with them.


How do we that?  All kinds of public entities.  It fascinates me what goes on even at our own university, from where you all come from, that doesn’t recycle paper and doesn’t do all kinds of things because they have seventeen different buying agents.  They don’t even buy recycled paper, let alone recycle it.  All those kinds of things that we could all do together, but we need to have some common ground here.


I look forward to having further discussions with all of you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Let me thank the Members who were here and who have stayed.  I appreciate that.  Members are incredibly busy right now.  


I do know that we have an opportunity for public comment.  I don’t have names before me, but if there are members of the public that want to quickly comment, this is your opportunity to do so.  


For those who have participants in the panel and the hearing today, do know that our doors are open.  I suspect whether they’re open or not you’d come through them anyway.  And I thank you for that, by the way.  I certainly am going to be trying to work with you and see what we can sort through, and I’m sure there are other Members that are going to want to do so.  So, thank you so much.  It’s been very valuable for all of us.  I encourage Members – and staff to get your Members – to read the “State of the Evidence.”


Let me now invite the public to come forward and comment.  Please come forward and have a seat and use one of the mikes that hopefully is already plugged in.  You all should feel comfortable to come forward and just take a seat.  It’ll help us move through the public comment period much more quickly.


And if we could try to be brief, I’d appreciate that.  State your name for the record and your organization, if at all.


Welcome.


MS. CATHERINE PORTER:  Thank you.  My name is Catherine Porter.  I’m the Legal Services and Public Policy coordinator with the Women’s Cancer Resource Center.  We’re one of the sponsors of this event.  We’re located in Berkeley and have a small satellite office in Oakland.  We provide a wide range of direct services to women with cancer, including legal services, which is one-half of the job I do, providing legal advice.  


I know it’s not exactly relevant but I’d like to echo what Dr. Ortiz talked about as far as the issue of insurance.  As the Legal Services coordinator, I receive questions all the time from women who have no insurance, who are losing insurance, and in the middle of a cancer diagnosis, they’re having to battle with how they’re going to find treatment.


We provide services to women with all sorts of cancers.  Today, I spoke with a woman who’s forty-two, who was, in the last year, diagnosed with brain cancer.  I talk to women, of course, with ovarian cancer and a wide range of cancers, including breast cancer.  The other half of my job, though, is in addition to providing legal services, I also work on policy issues to try to clean up the environment so that at some point down the line there are fewer women walking through our doors and not needing our services anymore.


Again, I’d like to echo some of what the previous speakers talked about, which is the necessity to start acting.  We have enough information to start acting.  For instance, the issue of pesticides is a good case sample of how we have enough information.  Another group that our organization works with is Californians for Pesticide Reform, so we work on issues around cleaning up.  Right now, our campaign is around cleaning up and trying to get pesticides out of schools.  We know that many pesticides are considered carcinogenic probable/possible.  We know that they’re endocrine disrupters.  We know that they create neurological problems.  Yet, those pesticides are still allowed to be used in schools.  The Legislature in two sessions had the opportunity, and the Governor had the opportunity, to get those pesticides out of schools, but now it’s a voluntary decision on the part of school districts.  


Although I think we can never have too much information, I think we have enough.  What we need is a political will not only from the Legislature but from the public in the State of California to start turning policy around to get carcinogens out of schools and other places, especially where our most vulnerable are.


Again, I want to thank you for the opportunity for hearing us and the other organizations that spoke earlier.  I hope in the future this will be the start of more action to actually stopping cancer where it starts.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for all the work you’re doing.  It’s really incredible.  The number one casework we do in my district office is helping constituents, even those that are insured and many that are not, maneuver through the healthcare system.  It’s the last thing people need to be contending with when they’re dealing with cancer.


Welcome, Ms. McGovern.


MS. BETH McGOVERN:  Thank you.


My name is Beth McGovern.  I’m the legislative director for the California National Organization for Women.


California NOW has about forty chapters throughout the state and 70,000 members and donors.  The people we represent are extremely concerned about this issue and are committed to doing whatever is possible to reduce the incidence of breast cancer.


I’d like to thank The Breast Cancer Fund and Breast Cancer Action for this very important report, and thanks to Senator Ortiz for sponsoring this hearing.


It’s apparent from this report that further steps are needed and that now is the time for that.  In fact, I think that having the evidence that we now have from this report, it would be irresponsible not to do that.  The longer we delay, the more women and men will die of breast cancer.  The faster we move on this, the more lives that will be saved.  It really is that simple.


The report really does provide plenty of evidence to warrant immediate action and to warrant further, more extensive, research on environmental causes of cancer.  We’re always talking about the importance of early detection and better, more accurate, diagnostic testing and health insurance coverage for diagnosis and treatment.  But I don’t think anyone can argue with the idea that prevention really is the best cure.  


So, please, I’m hoping we will use this report as a springboard for taking some active steps and including additional research that will provide us with the information we need to eliminate these toxic contaminants from the environment so that we can prevent women from getting breast cancer in the first place.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you so much.


Welcome.


MR. SIMON CHIN:  I’m Simon Chin.  I’m the president and CEO of __________ Technologies.  


I just want to make a comment regarding the new technologies that are pretty much slipping through the pharmaceutical industries and the biotech industries which is associated with the Human Genome Project.  A year ago it was announced that the mapping of the human genome, at least a rough draft of it, has been completed.  


In regard to looking at which chemical may be causing breast cancer, instead of guessing around that subject, one thing that perhaps can be done through our collaborative efforts – because, right now, there are many women who already have breast cancer, and about 200,000 of them get it every year, and there are over 2 million existing cases.  If you look at the biopsies of the women from the breast cancer—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  The pathology of the tumors?


MR. CHIN:  Yes.  Basically, all you need to do is look at the specific genes.  Currently, there is only one breast cancer test that is available which is offered by Myriad Genetics.  They only look at inherited breast cancer by looking at a gene called BRCA1, but instead of looking at just one or two genes, you can be looking at many genes that are associated with breast cancer.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Like P53 or some of the others.


MR. CHIN:  Right.  P53, P57.  


Basically, by looking at instead of a few genes, looking at hundreds of thousands of genes simultaneously, you can do two things.  One is that if you suspect certain chemicals are causing the breast cancer, all you have to do is take the biopsies of the breast cancer and look at healthy tissues and look at the difference in how the genes are expressing themselves, which means:  Are the genes working properly?  Are they turned on at the right time, the right amount, all this stuff?  And comparing to the healthy tissues and by treating the healthy tissues with various chemicals you think are suspect, then you can see how they’re affected genetically.  This way you can attack the problem directly on cases on what is causing the breast cancer.  That’s number one.  


Number two is by looking at the profile of the genes, you can see breast cancer coming years before it’s detectable by mammogram or other techniques.  That’s also another way to take advantage of the fact that a lot of money has been spent by the federal government and the private industries to attack the issues of cancers.


I’m sure Dr. Jackson from CDC can comment more about that, and he may already be doing some research in this area.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We’ll take all those recommendations for research into consideration.  I do appreciate that.  Thank you.


MR. CHIN:  You’re welcome.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Next speaker.


MS. KATE O’HARA:  I’m Kate O’Hara.  I’m with Bioluminate.  Basically, we’re a company that has an early detection device.  What it is, is it’s a needle that’s hooked to a computer and it has five senses in it and it’s done with lasers and optics.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Actually, I read this.  It’s relatively new technology that is able to determine gradations and nuances in tissue.


MS. O’HARA:  Exactly.  


Just to update, because it’s interesting, your comments, we actually license the technology from NASA.  We have also a license or a CREDA in place with Lawrence Livermore Labs.  We’re doing our clinical trials right now with UC Davis.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  At the campus here, at the Medical Center?


MS. O’HARA:  Yes.  With Lydia Howell.  She’s one of our scientific advisers.  We also met up with Dr. Bodai, who invented the Breast Cancer Stamp.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I know him well.  Married to my cousin.


MS. O’HARA:  He would like to be on our scientific advisory committee.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  He’s brilliant, absolutely.


MS. O’HARA:  He’s so wonderful.  People in his office – you can just see it.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  That may pose part of a future hearing if we want to talk about what’s available in terms of detection.  I mean, the technology is so vastly evolving.  The focus, of course, is how do we prevent, but I think there may be room for discussion on new technologies and sciences.  It’s changing, and I would welcome posing an opportunity for a little more thorough discussion of that.


MS. O’HARA:  That’s why I’m here, if there’s anything that we can do; if we can help.  But as I said, Dr. Bodai is actually pretty much, after our first couple of meetings, looking at being a champion for Bioluminate.  It’s really exciting.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  This is exciting.  I could talk about lots of things that we hope to do, and I welcome that.  I do want you to know that we’d like to be able to keep in contact.  If we have another hearing on that, that piece has a role.  The technology is changing so quickly – stereotactic biopsies; ultrasound versus simply mammograms.  Diagnosis is really the prevention piece, and how we have more sophisticated means of diagnosing at an early stage certainly has to be told until we get to the prevention model.


Thank you.


MS. O’HARA:  You’re welcome.  One thing, too, is 21,000 women every week go through what we’re actually calling unnecessary surgeries, because with this particular probe—


SENATOR ORTIZ:  You don’t have to do biopsies.


MS. O’HARA:  Right.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  We look forward to a more fuller discussion.  Thank you for sharing that, because I think it’s important for women to understand what is available and that they insist on the highest and best means of diagnosis available.


Welcome.


MS. GINNIE MONTENE:  Madam Chair and Members.  My name is Ginnie Montene, and I’m from San Luis Obispo.  We have a group there that’s called SLO Cancer Action Now.  Also, I am a survivor of breast cancer.


Initially, what I want to do is to give you some copies of an alternative pest control guide that has just been printed.  It’s a cooperative venture of the County Ag Department.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Wonderful.  I’m going to have the sergeant take those from you, and we’ll make sure all the Members that were supposed to be here will, in fact, receive them.  Thank you.


MS. MONTENE:  It’s a cooperative venture of the Environmental Center and the Ag Department.


The cancer epidemic is affecting everyone.  If we haven’t had to suffer with cancer, we know a friend or relative or a coworker who has been doing it.  It is so pervasive.


Another important consideration is that this is an issue that crosses party lines, economics, status, age, gender.  We’re all in this together, and I’m really happy that you’re open and interested in learning about that.


The bad news is we’re losing the war on cancer, but the good news is that we’re getting information now that really will make a difference.  We can prevent cancer.  If we reduce toxins, we reduce cancer.  That’s exciting.  That’s something that’s attainable and completely based on current knowledge.


I have a way of explaining the impact of all cancers.  Half a million people in the United States die each year from cancer.  That’s a lot of people, but how do you put that in perspective?  We all know the impact from that horrific September 11th attack and the World Trade Center.  It’s estimated that some 4,000 people died there.  Well, that number of people, those 4,000, is the number of cancer deaths every three days.  So, every three days, another September 11th in terms of deaths.  And this is going on all the time, quietly, in a home, in a hospital.  It’s not getting the headlines.  It’s a quiet epidemic, and we’re hoping that it becomes much less quiet.


I like this little parable, and I’ll leave you with this.  “Residents who live in a village began noticing an increasing number of drowning people.  They were caught in their river’s swift current, so they began inventing evermore elaborate technologies to resuscitate them.  They became so preoccupied with rescue and treatment they never thought to look upstream to see who or what was pushing them in.”  


So, let’s go upstream.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for that.  It’s wise advice.


Our final public comment speaker.  Welcome.


MR. NICK GUROFF:  Thank you, Senator Ortiz, for putting this on.  I’d also like to thank all those involved in putting together such a wonderful forum and necessary forum.


My name is Nick Guroff.  I’m the California organizer for the National Environmental Trust.  We work both with Californians for Pesticide Reform and with the coalition groups, including The Breast Cancer Fund, CalPIRG, and Physicians for Social Responsibility, on issues of making sure that we prevent harm posed to children by toxic chemicals.


It’s very encouraging to hear in this forum the willingness of legislators to move forward on this issue this year.  I would recommend only, based on Dr. Jackson’s testimony earlier, that we explore the avenues available to us with CDC money this year for the possibility of using that money for programs here in the state on biomonitoring that might forward some of the things that we’ve spoken about today.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  I suspect our administration and our directors have already begun aggressive communications, but you’re absolutely right.  Thanks for bringing up that point.


Thank you so much.


I’m sorry.  I was trying to cut off public comment too early.  Welcome.


If there are others that want to speak, I’d ask you to come forward.  


MS. KATIE SILBERMAN:  I’ll be quick.


My name is Katie Silberman.  I’m the public policy advocate for the Center for Environmental Health.  We’re a nonprofit based in Oakland that protects the public from environmental health hazards.


I want to thank you so much for having this hearing today.  I have to admit I’ve been having some frustrations working in Sacramento recently, and this hearing today, I feel so heartened, watching you in particular.  It practically makes me want to run for office.  So, thank you for that.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Careful what you think about doing.  (Laughter)  Thank you for that.


MS. SILBERMAN:  I just want to say quickly that environmental causes of breast cancer is not a special interest issue.  For every woman who gets cancer, there are so many people who love her, including men, including children, including other women.  So, this issue really touches everybody in the state in some way or another.


I also want to offer the support of those of us who aren’t directly in the breast cancer community.  For instance, my organization works in toxics reduction.  There are so many other great organizations out there, working on reducing toxic chemicals, available to support you and your colleagues.  I know that your resources are stretched here, but we have a lot of people power.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Duly noted.


MS. SILBERMAN:  I want to say that you have a lot of support in doing this work.


Thank you again.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for what you do.


Welcome.


MS. JANIS BARLOE:  I want to thank you, Senator Ortiz, for taking the leadership in this issue on looking at the environmental links to breast cancer.


I’m Janis Barloe, and I’m the executive director of Marin Breast Cancer Watch; one of the cosponsors of this event.  


Our organization started similarly to The Breast Cancer Fund where our founder was diagnosed with breast cancer and began asking a simple question:  Why do so many women in Marin County get breast cancer?  And that simple question led to the discovery that, in fact, Marin County has had a long history of having a high incidence of breast cancer.  


Just recently, the Northern California Cancer Center released their statistics on breast cancer, looking at the incidence and mortality rates in Marin County and comparing from 1998 [sic] to 1999, and there was a 20 percent increase in breast cancer between ’89 and ’99, which they were very concerned about.  They also attributed that the increase was confined to a specific age group of women in Marin County, and it was women between the ages of 45 and 64.  In Marin County, 59 percent of the women in our county fall within that age range.


So, I just want to reemphasize what was said earlier by Nancy Evans that a diagnosis of breast cancer is not just a personal tragedy.  At least in Marin County, it is a major public health concern.


I also wanted to thank the State of California because we are involved in several community-based research programs and all of them have an environmental component.  Half a million dollars came to Marin County just through the budget.  It was part of the budgetary process.  So, we thank you for that money which will allow us to look at some of the environmental risk factors in Marin County.


I’d also like to thank the Breast Cancer Action and The Breast Cancer Fund for all the work that they did to put together the “State of the Evidence” on chemicals and breast cancer.  For organizations such as ours that are small, that’s a wonderful document for us to have also.


Thank you.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Thank you for reminding me – you’re absolutely right, The Breast Cancer Fund and all the participants – and thank you for your role.


I anxiously await the studies that are being done in Marin and will hopefully find an appropriate forum to have you come back and share some of the studies that are underway there in Marin County.


MS. BARLOE:  We’d love to.  I think it’s a good model for communities who have a specific health problem that they want to look at.  Community-based research is a very good model for looking at community problems.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Careful.  We may call you back for that subsequent hearing.  It’s a joint hearing that’s being floated around here.


Thank you so much for your participation and your work.


Welcome.


MS. KASIA GRISSO:  Thank you.  I recognize the time, so I will keep my remarks simple and short.


My name is Kasia Grisso.  I have a master’s degree in Environmental Studies as well as in Public Health from Yale University.  I’ve done some work on this issue in the past with a number of organizations, both national and local.  I’m a volunteer for The Breast Cancer Fund, but I’m here today to give remarks as a member of the California voting community, as a member of the public.


I wanted to both echo the thanks of those who have come before me for your efforts, Senator Ortiz, as well as the committee’s, and to really encourage the committee and the Legislature to continue to look into all of the options, to work on a number of different concurrent levels.  I think, certainly, with the kind of information that’s coming forward from research, there’s fantastic work being done, of course, looking at treatment and detection, but I want to encourage out-of-the-box thinking on the part of the Legislature, be it as Ms. Rizzo commented earlier, in ways that even the Legislature itself does business and supports the business community in taking steps for prevention.


So, I want to thank you for having us here today and look forward to coming back again.


SENATOR ORTIZ:  Great.  And we will welcome that.


Thank you, all, for all your hard work.  There is much work that went into this hearing.  I want to thank all the participants.  I also want to thank my staff.  Please understand that Members have been so busy.  They’re running from committee to committee.  They’re working hard.  This in no way suggests that there’s not a lot of interest.  I know Members are watching.  I know they’re reading the report.  There’s a lot of wonderful people who are working in this area to complement what you’re doing.


Thank you, all.  This meeting is adjourned.
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